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Dear Mr. Evans and Ms. Newberger:

This letter, together with the Sealed Supplement, confirms the plea agreement which has
been offered to Otis Ray Hope, the Defendant, by the United States Attorney's Office for the District
of Maryland ("this Office"). If the Defendant accepts this offt:r, please have him execute it in the
spaces provided below. If this offer has not been accepted by April 7, 2009, it will be deemed
withdrawn. The terms of the agreement are as follows:

Offense of Conviction

1. The Defendant agrees to plead guilty to the following two counts of the
Indictment now pending against him in Case No. WMN-08-0396: Count One, Tax Evasion, in
violation of26 U.S.C. S 7201, and Count Four, Subscribing to a False Document, in violation of26
V.S.c. S 7206(1). The Defendant also agrees to plead guilty to Count One of the Indictment now
pending against him in Case No. WNN-09-0190 charging him with Conspiracy to Commit Bank
Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. S S 1344 and 1349. The Defendant admits that he is, in fact, guilty
of these offenses and will so advise the Court.

Elements of the Offenses

2. The elements of the offenses to which the Defendant has agreed to plead
guilty, and which this Office would prove if the case went to trial, are as follows:
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a.

b.

c.

Count One - Tax Evasion

The Defendant owed substantially more federal income tax for the calendar
year 2001 than what he declared on the income tax return he filed for that
year.

The Defendant committed an affirmative act to evade the payment of taxes
owed for calendar year 2001.

The Defendant acted willfully.

Count Four - Subscribing to a False Document

a. The Defendant made and signed an IRS form that he knew contained false
information as to a material matter.

b. The IRS form contained or was verified by a written declaration that it was being
signed subject to the penalties of perjury.

c. The Defendant acted willfully.

Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud

a. The Defendant and at least one other person e:ntered into an unlawful agreement.

b. The purpose of the agreement was to knowingly execute or attempt to execute a
scheme or artifice to defraud a financial institution and to obtain money, funds, assets
or other property owned by or under the custody or control of a financial institution
by means of false pretenses, representations, or promises.

c. The financial institution's deposits were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation.

d. The Defendant knowingly and willfully became a member of the conspiracy.

e. One of the members of the conspiracy knowingly committed at least one overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Penalties

3. The maximum sentence provided by statute for the offenses to which the
Defendant is pleading guilty are as follows: the offense of Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud carries
a maximum sentence of thirty (30) years of imprisonment and a $1,000,000 fine, Tax Evasion carries
a maximum sentence of imprisonment of five (5) years and a fine of $250,000, and Subscribing to
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a False Document carries a maximum sentence of imprisonment of three (3) years, and a $100,000
fine. A period of supervised release for each offense, up to Jive years, three years and one year,
respectively, may be imposed. In addition, the Defendant must pay $100 per count of conviction
as a special assessment pursuant to 18 U.S.c. S 3013, which will be due and should be paid at or
before the time of sentencing. This Court may also order him to make restitution pursuant to 18
U.S.c. S9 3663, 3663A, and 3664.1 If a fine or restitution is imposed, it shall be payable
immediately, unless, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. S 3572(d), the Court orders otherwise. TheDefendant
understands that if he serves a term of imprisonment, is released on supervised release, and then
violates the conditions of his supervised release, his supervise:d release could be revoked - even on
the last day of the term - and the Defendant could be returned to custody to serve another period of
incarceration and a new term of supervised release. The Defe.ndant understands that the Bureau of
Prisons has sole discretion in designating the institution at which the Defendant will serve any term
of imprisonment imposed.

Waiver of Rights

4. The Defendant understands that by entering into this agreement, he surrenders
certain rights as outlined below:

a. Ifthe Defendant had persisted in his plea of not guilty, he would have
had the right to a speedy jury trial with the close assistance of competent counsel. That trial could
be conducted by a judge, without ajury, if the Defendant, this Office, and the Court all agreed.

b. If the Defendant elected a jury trial, the jury would be composed of
twelve individuals selected from the community. Counsel and the Defendant would have the
opportunity to challenge prospective jurors who demonstrated bias or who were otherwise
unqualified, and would have the opportunity to strike a certain number of jurors peremptorily. All
twelve jurors would have to agree unanimously before the Defendant could be found guilty of any
count. The jury would be instructed that the Defendant was presumed to be innocent, and that
presumption could be overcome only by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

c. If the Defendant went to trial, the government would have the burden
of proving the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The Defendant would have the right
to confront and cross-examine the government's witnesses. The Defendant would not have to
present any defense witnesses or evidence whatsoever. If the Defendant wanted to call witnesses
in his defense, however, he would have the subpoena powe:r of the Court to compel the witnesses
to attend.

d. The Defendant would have the right to testify in his own defense if

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. S 3612, if the Court imposes a fine in excess of$2,500 that
remains unpaid 15 days after it is imposed, the Defendant shall be charged interest on that fine,
unless the Court modifies the interest payment in accordance with 18 U.S.c. S 3612(£)(3).
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he so chose, and he would have the right to refuse to testify. Jfhe chose not to testify, the Court
could instruct the jury that they could not draw any adverse iriference from his. decision not to
testify .

e. If the Defendant were found guilty after a trial, he would have the
right to appeal the verdict and the Court's pretrial and trial decisions on the admissibility of evidence
to see if any errors were committed which would require a new trial or dismissal of the charges
against him. By pleading guilty, the Defendant knowingly gives up the right to appeal the verdict
and the Court's decisions.

f. By pleading guilty, the Defendant will be giving up all ofthese rights,
except the right, under the limited circumstances set forth in the "Waiver of Appeal" paragraph
below, to appeal the sentence. By pleading guilty, the Defendant understands that he may have to
answer the Court's questions both about the rights he is giving up and about the facts cifhis case.
Any statements the Defendant makes during such a hearing would not be admissible against him
during a trial except in a criminal proceeding for perjury or false statement.

g. If the Court accepts the Defendant's plea of guilty, there will be no
further trial or proceeding of any kind, and the Court will find him guilty.

h. By pleading guilty, the Defendant will also be giving up certain
valuable civil rights.

Advisory Sentencing Guidelines ~

5. The Defendant understands that the Court will determine a sentencing
guidelines range for this case (henceforth the "advisory guidelines range") pursuant to the
Sentencing Reform Act of1984 at 18U.S.c. SS 3551-3742 (exc,epting 18U.S.C. SS 3553(b)(l) and
3742(e» and 28 U.S.c. SS 991 through 998. The Defendant further understands that the Court will
impose a sentence pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act, as {:xcised,and must take into account
the advisory guidelines range in establishing a reasonable sentence.

Factual and Advisory Guidelines Stipulation

6. This Office and the Defendant understand, agree and stipulate to the
Statement of Facts set forth in Attachment A hereto which this Office would prove beyond a
reasonable doubt, and to the following applicable sentencing guidelines factors:

a. As to Count One, Tax Evasion, the parties agree and stipulate that pursuant to
U.S.S.G. SS IB1.3, 2Tl.l(a)(l) and 2T4.1(G) the total tax loss is more than $200,000, resulting in
a base offense level of eighteen (18). The parties stipulate that a two-level upward adjustment is
warranted pursuant to U.S.S.G. S 2Tl.l(b)(2) for sophisticated means, resulting in an adjusted
offense level of twenty (20). The parties further stipulate that another two-level upward adjustment
iswarranted pursuant to U.S.S.G. S 2Tl.l(b)(I) because the Defendant failed to report income from
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criminal activity exceeding $ I0,000 in a given year, resulting in an adjusted offense level of twenty-
two (22).

b. As to Count Four, Subscribing to a False Document, the parties agree and stipulate
that pursuantto U.S.S.G. SS IBl.3, 2Tl.l(a)(I) and 2T4.1(E) thl~total tax loss is more than $30,000,
resulting in a base offense level of fourteen (14). However, because the Defendant's Tax Evasion
and Subscribing to a False Document involved the same victim and were connected by a common
criminal objective or constituted part of a common scheme or plan, they are subject to grouping
under S 3D1.2(b). Under S 3D1.3(a), the adjusted offense level for the count with the highest
offense level therefore governs all ofthe counts of conviction, and the combined adjusted offense
level before applying any reductions is twenty-two (22)~

c. As to Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud, the parties agree and stipulate that pursuant
to U.S.S.G. SS IB 1.3, 2B 1.1(a)(l) and 2B1.1(b)(1)(I), the total actual loss is more than $1,000,000,
resulting in a base offense level of twenty-three (23). The parties stipulate that a two-level
downward adjustment for minor role is warranted pursuant to U.S.S.G. S 3B1.2(b), resulting in an
adjusted offense level of twenty-one (21). This offense and the other two offenses described above
are not grouped together because they do not involve the same victim and they were not connected
by a common criminal objective or part of a common scheme or plan. Thus, pursuant to S 3D 1.4(a),
the combined offense level for the two groups of counts is the highest offense level of the two
groupings, which is twenty-two (22), plus 2 more levels, resulting in a combined offense level of
twenty-four (24).

d. This Office does not oppose a two- level reduction in the Defendant's adjusted offense
level, based upon the Defendant's apparent prompt recognition and affirmative acceptance of
personal responsibility for his criminal conduct. This Office agrees to make a motion pursuant to
U.S.S.G. S 3E1.1(b) for an additional one-level decrease in recognition of the Defendant's timely
notification of his intention to plead guilty. This Office may oppose any adjustment for acceptance
of responsibility if the Defendant (a) fails to admit each and every item in the factual stipulation; (b)

. denies involvement in the offense; (c) gives conflicting statements about his involvement in the
offense; (d) is untruthful with the Court, this Office, or the United States Probation Office; (e)
obstructs or attempts to obstruct justice prior to sentencing; (f) engages in any criminal conduct
between the date ofthis agreement and the date of sentencing; or (g) attempts to withdraw his plea
of guilty.

7. The Defendant understands that there is. no agreement as to his criminal
history or criminal history category, and that his criminal history could alter his offense level ifhe
is a career offender or if the instant offense was a part of a pattern of criminal conduct from which
he derived a substantial portion of his income.

8. This Office and the Defendant agree that with respect to the calculation ofthe
advisory guidelines range, no other offense characteristics, sentencing guidelines factors, potential
departures or adjustments set forth in the United States Sentencing Guidelines will be raised or are
in dispute.
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Rule 11 Cc) (1) CC)Plea

9. The parties stipulate and agree pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure II(c)(l)(C) that a sentence of thirty-seven (37) months is the appropriate disposition of
this case. This agreement does not affect the Court's discre:tion to impose any lawful term of
supervised release or a fine or to set any lawful conditions of probation or supervised release. In the
event that the Court rejects this plea agreement, either party may elect to declare the agreement null
and void. Should the Defendant so elect, he will be afforded the opportunity to withdraw his plea
pursuant to the provisions of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(5). Ifit is determined that
the Defendant has a prior criminal conviction, the government reserves the rightto withdraw from
the agreement.

Restitution

10. The Defendant agrees to the entry of a Restitution Order for the losses
incurred by both the Montrose Christian School, in the amount of $922,320, and the Bank of
America, in the amount of$I.5 million. The Defendant agrees that, pursuant to 18 U.s.C. SS 3663
and 3663A and SS 3563(b)(2) and 3583(d), the Court may order restitution ofthefull amount ofthe
actual, total loss caused by the offense conduct set forth in th(~factual stipulation. The Defendant
further agrees that he will fully disclose to the probation officer and to the Court, subject to the
penalty of perjury, all information, including but not limited to copies of all relevant bank and
financial records, regarding the current location and prior disposition of all funds obtained as a result
ofthe criminal conduct set forth in the factual stipulation. Th~~Defendant further agrees to take all
reasonable steps to retrieve or repatriate any such funds and to make them available for restitution.
If the Defendant does not fulfill this provision, it will be considered a material breach of this plea
agreement, and this Office may seek to be relieved of its obligations under this agreement. It is also
acknowledged that Defendant's restitution will be reduced by any contribution made by any
codefendants.

Tax Liability

11. The Defendant understands that this agreement does not resolve any civil tax
liability that he may have, and that this agreement is with the United States Attorney's Office, not
with the Internal Revenue Service. The Internal Revenue Service is not a party to this agreement
and remains free to pursue any and all lawful remedies it may have. The Defendant agrees,
however, as a special condition of supervised release (a) to execute a final and conclusive "Closing
Agreement" with the Internal Revenue Service, pursuant to section 7121 of the Internal Revenue
Code, in order to resolve his tax liabilities for the years 2001-2003; (b) to provide a complete and
accurate financial statement, under penalty of perjury, to the United States which shall identify all
assets valued at $1000 or more owned or held directly or indirectly by him, as well as all such assets
transferred by him to any third parties since 2001, including the location of said assets and identities
of the third parties; and (c) to pay to the Internal Revenue Service all additional taxes, interest and
penalties which the Internal Revenue Service may determine that he owes for the tax years 2001-
2003, pursuant to the aforesaid Closing Agreement. However, the Defendant reserves the right to
contest any civil assessment that the IRS may choose to pur:me. The Defendant understands that
a failure to comply with any ofthe conditions of his supervised release may result in revocation of

6

Case 1:09-cr-00190-WMN   Document 17    Filed 06/05/09   Page 6 of 17



his release conditions, resulting in his incarceration for all or part of the term of supervised release.
This Office will recommend that the Court order restitution in the total amount of taxes owed for
years 2001-2003 and will recommend that the restitution b{: applied against the gross amount
determined in the Closing Agreement, all of which is to be paid as a condition of supervised release.

Obligations of the United States Attorney's Office

12. At the time of sentencing, this Office will move to dismiss any open counts
against the Defendant in both Indictments.

13. The parties reservethe right to bring to the Court's attention at the time of
sentencing, and the Court will be entitled to consider, all relevant information concerning the
Defendant's background, character and conduct, including the conduct that is the subject of the
counts of the Indictment that this Office has agreed to dismiss at sentencing.

Waiver of Appeal \

14. The Defendant and this Office knowingly and expressly waive all rights
conferred by 18 U.S.C. S 3742 to appeal whatever sentence is imposed, including any fine, term of
supervised release, or order of restitution and any issues that relate to the establishment of the
advisory guidelines range, as follows: the Defendant waives any right to appeal from any sentence
of thirty-seven (37) months or lower and this Office waives any right to appeal from any sentence
ofthirty-seven (37) months or higher. Nothing in this agreement shall be construed to prevent either
the Defendant or this Office from invoking the provisions of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure
35(a), or from appealing from any sentence imposed, including any fine, term of supervised release,
or order of restitution that is illegal or that exceeds the statutory maximum allowed under the law
or that is less than any applicable statutory mandatory minimum provision. The Defendant waives
any and all rights under the Freedom ofInformation Act relating to the investigation and prosecution
of the above-captioned matter and agrees not to file any request for documents from this Office or
any investigating agency.

Obstruction or Other Violations of Law

15. The Defendant agrees that he will not commit any offense in violation of
federal, state or local law between the date ofthis agreement and his sentencing in this case. In the
event that the Defendant (i) engages in conduct after the date ofthis agreement which would justify
a finding of obstruction of justice under U.S.S.G. S 3C1.1, or (ii) fails to accept personal
responsibility for his conduct by failing to acknowledge his guilt to the probation officer who
prepares the Presentence Report, or (iii) commits any offense in violation of federal, state or local
law, then this Office will be relieved of its obligations to the Defendant as reflected in this
agreement. Specifically, this Office will be free to argue sentencing guidelines factors other than
those stipulated in this agreement, and it will also be free to make sentencing recommendations other
than those set out in this agreement. As with any alleged breach of this agreement, this Office will
bear the burden of convincing the Court of the Defendant's obstructive or unlawful behavior and/or
failure to acknowledge personal responsibility by a preponderance of the evidence. The Defendant
acknowledges that he may not withdraw his guilty plea because this Office is relieved of its
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obligations under the agreement pursuant to this paragraph.

Court Not a Party

16. Except as modified by paragraph 9, the Defendant expressly understands that
the Court is not a party to this agreement. In the federal system, the sentence to be imposed is within
the sole discretion of the Court. In particular, the Defendant understands that neither the United
States Probation Office nor the Court is bound by the stipulation set forth above; and that the Court
will, with the aid of the Presentence Report, determine the facts relevant to sentencing. The
Defendant understands that the Court cannot rely exclusively upon the stipulation in ascertaining
the factors relevant to the determination of sentence. Rather, in determining the factual basis for the
sentence, the Court will consider the stipulation, together with the results of the presentence
investigation, and any other relevant information. The Defendant understands that the Court is
under no obligation to accept this Office's recommendations, and the Court has the power to impose
a sentence up to and including the statutory maximum, subject to paragraph 9 above. The Defendant
understands that neither the prosecutor, his counsel, nor the Court can make a binding prediction,
promise, or representation as to what guidelines range or sente,nce the Defendant will receive. The
Defendant agrees that no one has made such a binding prediction or promise.

Entire Agreement

17. This letter supersedes any prior understandings, promises, or conditions
between this Office and the Defendant and, together with the Sealed Supplement, constitutes the
complete plea agreement in this 'case. The Defendant acknowledges that there are no other
agreements, promises, undertakings or understandings between the Defendant and this Office other
than those set forth in this letter and the Sealed Supplement and none will be entered into unless in
writing and signed by all parties.

If the Defendant fully accepts each and every term and condition of this agreement, please
sign and have the Defendant sign the original and return it to me promptly.

Very truly yours,

Rod J. Rosenstein
United States Arney
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I have read this agreement, including the Sealed Supplement, and carefully reviewed every
part of it with my attorney. I understand it, and I voluntarily agree to it. Specifically, I have
reviewed the Factual and Advisory Guidelines Stipulation with my attorney, and I do not wish to
change any part of it. I am completely satisfied with the representation of my attorney.

~
Otis Ray Hope C.J

ili/bi
I .j i

Qate

We are Mr. Hope's attorneys. We have carefully reviewed every part of this agreement,
including the Sealed Supplement, with him. He advises us that he understands and accepts its terms.
To our knowledge, his decision to enter into this agreement is an informed and voluntary one.

~yl0f
Date

W/4/ot
Date
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Attachment A
Stipulated Statement of Facts

A. Tax Evasion

In 1996, the Defendant, Otis Ray Hope, was hired to be the Senior Pastor for Montrose

Baptist Church located in Rockville, Maryland. One of his responsibilities was to oversee the

Montrose Christian School and another educational component of the parish called the "English

as a Second Language" Program (ESL), which taught foreign students English. In 2001, the

Defendant advised members of the Church Council that the ESL program could be more

lucrative if it was expanded and operated as a separate corporate entity. The Council took no

action on the Defendant's suggestion.

However, shortly thereafter, the Defendant formed a company on his own called the

Maryland International Student Association (MISA), ostensibly to take over the management of

the ESL program. The Defendant's brother, Richard Hope, incorporated MISA under the laws of

the State of Nevada at the direction of the Defendant, but MISA never had any offices in that

state and none ofESL's property or students was ever located there. MISA had no corporate

minutes or general business ledgers and it never filed a federal or state tax return.

Unbeknown to members of the Church Council, the Defendant also opened various bank

accounts in the State of Louisiana under the name of MISA. MISA never had any offices in

Louisiana and none ofESL's property or students was ever located there. The Defendant

controlled the bank accounts through an acquaintance in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, named John

Swetledge, who served as the signatory on all the accounts. Swetledge owned a car repair

business at the time. He had no prior involvement or experience with the Montrose Christian

School or the ESL program. However, at about this same point in time, Swetledgeand Richard

Hope were involved in a start-up company in Louisiana called Wildlife Optics, which was

marketing a new type of scope for hunting rifles.

Young Lee, who was already employed at the time by ESL, oversaw the day-to-day

operations of the ESL program just as she had been doing before the creation of MISA, including

the recruitment and placement of foreign students, most of whom came from Korea. Lee had no

knowledge of the Louisiana bank accounts, she did not know Swetledge, nor was. she involved in

the financial affairs of MISA. The Defendant paid Lee's salary using MISA funds and
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reimbursed her for any expenses she incurred, such as traveling to Korea. The Defendant

provided Lee with the bank account numbers into which students were asked to wire their tuition

payments, which turned out to be one of the accounts in Louisianna, and Lee included this

information in her correspondence with the students. Upon taking over the management of the

ESL program, MISA substantially increased the price of tuition from approximately $7,400 to

$12,500.

Froin approximately June 2001 to December 2003, foreign students who were admitted

into the ESL program at the Montrose Christian School wired approximately $1.35 million in

tuition payments into the MISA bank accounts. In September 2002, the Defendant had the

balance of the tuition payments transferred from the Louisianna accounts to an Allfirst bank

account in Maryland for which he and his daughter, Kristi McCusker, were the only signatories.

Other than to pay Young Lee's salary and incidental expenses, hardly any of the wired funds

were used to pay the expenses of the foreign students or the ESL program. Instead, the

Defendant diverted much of the tuition payments from the ESL program to himself for his own

'personal benefit. The Defendant directed Swetledge to move the tuition funds between the

various bank accounts, then the Defendant spent the money on personal expenses for himself and

members of his family, such as golf outings, a family vacation in Hawaii, meals at restaurants,

plane tickets, car payments, renovations of family-owned real estate, and investments in a

closely-held company called Shiloh Ministries of Hagerstown, Inc. There were also large cash

withdrawals from the MISA accounts that were unaccounted for. Some withdrawals were made

by Swetledge and Richard Hope without the knowledge of the Defendant, including withdrawals

for the benefit of Wildlife Optic.

When members ofthe Montrose Church Council learned that ESL's expenses were not

being paid in full, they confronted the Defendant at two Church Council meetings in September

2002. At first, the Defendant attempted to conceal his control over MISA and its financial affairs

claiming communication problems with an unnamed "banker" and a "lawyer" in Louisiana, and

he asserted that Young Lee and his daughter were actually running MISA's financial affairs.

Later on, he admitted that he had been managing MISA, and he had spent MISA funds on

himself, his family and Shiloh Ministries. Following the admissions, the Church Council
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accepted the Defendant's resignation.

The Defendant filed a 2001 joint tax return with his wife from Frederick, Maryland, on or

about October 21,2002, in which he reported receiving wages and an automobile allowance from

Montrose Christian School that resulted in a total taxable income of$68,647. The Defendant did

not report the expenditure of $446, 109 of MISA funds on personal and family expenses during

that same year, resulting in a joint taxable income of $473,.145, upon which there was owing an

income tax of $145,021. Similarly, he reported a joint taxable income of $46,179 in his 2002

joint tax return, but failed to include the expenditure $421,257 of MISA funds on personal and

family expenses, resulting in a joint taxable income of $444,037, upon which there was owing an

income tax of $137,031. And he reported no taxable income in 2003, yet he expended $54,954,

of MISA funds on personal and family expenses, resulting in a joint taxable income of $41 ,054

for which an income tax of $5,079 was owed. In total, the Defendant failed to rep~rt the

expenditure of $958,236 of tuition receipts on personal and family expenses, resulting in the

evasion of $287,131 in income taxes.

B. Subscribing to a False Document

On December 12, 2001, the Defendant formed a "Religious Company" in Maryland

called Shiloh Ministries of Hagerstown, Inc. (the "Shiloh Company"). In the Articles of

Incorporation, he listed himself and other members of his family as trustees. The stated purpose

of the company, among other things, was to "provide spiritual guidance, religious services,

secular and religious education ... charitable contributions and work." On January 17, 2002,

the Shiloh Company purchased a multi-story commercial building located at 149 Potomac Street

in Hagerstown, Maryland. The building was previously owned and occupied by the YMCA. On

February 20,2002, the Defendant filed an amendment to the company's corporate articles and

certified to the State of Maryland that it intended to operate the Shiloh Company as a "not-for-

profit" company under 501(c)(3) ofthe Internal Revenue Code.

Three months later, in May 2002, the Defendant and Richard Hope drafted a business

plan outlining their intentions to operate the building as the "Shiloh Conference and Retreat

Center," which would offer "a premiere facility to its targeted market segments" and which

boasted a "70% profit margin" on bookings made during the first quarter of that year. The
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business plan declared that Shiloh was "owned by Dr. Ray Hope," not Shiloh Ministries of

Hagerstown, Inc., and that the marketing strategy for the business would take advantage of his

"close ties within the religious community" to solicit not only religious organizations, but

"businesses and special interest groups" as well. The plan went on to describe how the

"extensive upgrades" to the building, totaling $541,000, were "financed by Dr. Hope ... the

Chief Executive Officer for Shiloh." The plan projected pretax net income of more than $1

million per year for the first five years of operation, including income derived from doing

business with MISA.
Contrary to the assertions in the 50l(c)(3) certification to the State of Maryland, the

Defendant's 46-page business plan made no mention of the fact that the company had organized

itself for religious or charitable purposes, and it was also devoid of any plan to conduct religious

or charitable activities. To the contrary, it viewed religious and charitable organizations as a

profitable niche to which the Shiloh Company could market and lease its conference facilities.

As noted above, the company did not limit its marketing strategy to the religious sector of the

market, but planned to aggressively increase rental sales to business and governmental groupS as

well. Significantly, noneofthe company's projected income and profits had been, or would be,

derived from donations or tithes; nor were there any provisions in the plan for the distribution of

the company's profits for religious or charitable purposes.
The business plan was also inconsistent with the Defendant's filing three months later on

August 27, 2002 of an IRS Form 1023, which was an Application for Recognition of Exemption

Under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, that he had subscribed to under the

penalties of perjury as "true, correct and complete." In the application for exemption from

federal taxes, the Defendant falsely asserted, among other things, that (1) the Shiloh Company's

financial support was derived from donations and contributions; (2) clients paid nothing for the

products and 'serVices offered by the Shiloh Company; (3) the company was a church, or a
convention or association of churches; and (4) the company conducted worship services. The

Defendant also failed to list MISA as an organization with ;Vhom Shiloh had a special

relationship and, contrary 10 the business plan, he pr~j~~ctedzero net income for the first three

years, Shiloh's revenues have never been reported to the IRS because it never filed a tax return,

4

, I , ,

., I b •••..<>o ••m' l1S<l--perSOImI asset and he claimed that he was the sole ow f
ShIloh s real estate at 149 Pt' ner 0, 0 omac Street, WhIChhe valued at more than $5 million H d' d
Jus daught h . e !fecte
h er, w 0 ~'as the bookkeeper at Shiloh, to send a letter informing a South Carolina bank

t at he was authonzed to use Shiloh funds for the purchase of a new home there H 1
and used d Sh'l . e a so opened

a secon 1 oh bank account about which th 'h d kn e company s accountant and his daughter

a no ow1edge.

C. Bank Fraud

The Defendant and Richa d H firope re manced the mortgage on the Shiloh b 'ld' ..~ w~~m
a one-year span of time. On March 28 2005 th ,. d. ' , ey recuve a mortgage from Severn

Savmgs Bank for $1,250,000 and on M '. . ay 31, 2006 they receIVed one from Sovereign Bank for

$1.7 mIllIon The Soverei B nk . hh .. . gn a WIt e1d dIsbursement of $390,000 ofthe fu d h' h
mcluded $40 000 fi d" n s, w IC. ' or reme IatIOn of environmental problems and $350,000 for needed

renovatIOns. The money was held in escrow b S . .. h Y overeIgn untIl the Hopes could present the bank

WIt work orders to address the problems.

Approximately two weeks later, the Defendant and Richa d H . .
contracts for the r ope sent SovereIgn repair

work that needed to be done, which totaled $290 457 and Sov' 1 d
those funds to them A we k " ereIgn re ease

. . e later, on June 21,2006, a fire started in the Defendant's living

quarters, WhIChcaused damage to other areas of the Shiloh building. The work for which the

escrow money was released was not completed prior to the fire, nor was it done anytime

5

Case 1:09-cr-00190-WMN   Document 17    Filed 06/05/09   Page 13 of 17



thereafter.

The damage caused by the fire rendered the building's fire alarm and sprinkler systems

inoperable. The Fire Marshal advised the Defendant in writing that no one could occupy the

building until they received an occupancy certificate from his office. Similarly, the Building

Inspector for the City of Hagerstown told the Defendant that there were numerous code

violations that had to be corrected before anyone could occupy the building. According to

former employees of Shiloh and other witnesses, Shiloh stopped conducting business subsequent

to the fire on June 21, 2006, i.e., there were no more conferences or retreats ever held at Shiloh

after that date.

Other than the insurance proceeds that went directly to a fire remediation company

immediately after the fire, most of the insurance proceeds went to a construction company

associated with the Defendant and Richard Hope called the:Kabel Company, LLC. The company

was incorporated in Nevada on July 26,2006, about a month after the fire, using the same

incorporation agency as the one that incorporated MISA. Through August 25, 2006, the Kabel

Company received a total of $607,585 for repairs allegedly made to the building. The Sovereign

Bank withheld a portion of the insurance proceeds until the building passed inspection.

Beginning on September 28, 2006, the Defendant and Richard Hope sought to refinance

the Shiloh property again. They contacted a mortgage broker named John Berardino and advised

him that they were unhappy with the quality of service provided by Sovereign Bank, especially

the fact that the bank refused to release the balance of the escrow funds from the original loan

closing and the payout of the insurance proceeds. Richard Hope estimated that Sovereign was

holding approximately $175,000 of Shiloh's money.

At Berardino's request, the Defendant and Richard Hope began to compile various

documents in support of their application for a mortgage in the amount of$1.75 million from the

Bank of America, N.A., which had its deposits insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation. Because the Defendant had moved to South Carolina by this time, he asked the

live-in caretaker at Shiloh and the building's sole occupant, Nancy Holmes, to take pictures of

the renovated property, saying he needed them for the bank loan, and to send them to Richard

Hope, which she did.
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Richard Hope relayed information to Berardino about the status of the renovations that he

and the Defendant had finished, including the repair of the damage caused by the fire. He falsely

represented that as a result of the work that had been done, Shiloh was open for business and was

holding conferences and retreats again. In truth and fact, as noted above, Shiloh had not been

open for business since the fire happened, and an inspection by the City of Hagerstown revealed

numerous fire code and building code violations and various renovation deficiencies, including

wires that were unattached to new electrical outlets and an inoperable sprinkler system. The

renovation work performed by the Defendant's construction company and overseen by Richard

Hope was determined to be below basic standards of safety and habitability and would require a

substantial outlay of money to remedy.

Neither the Defendant nor Richard Hope ever asked the City of Hagerstown to inspect the

renovation work so Shiloh could get an occupancy permit, nor did they ever bring the building up

to code. In fact, beginning in October 2006, the Defendant let the monthly utility payments

lapse. A few months later, and unbeknown to the Bank of America, Nancy Holmes was ejected

tr0m the building because it was deemed uninhabitable.

On December 26, 2006, and based on the information provided by the Defendant and

Richard Hope, the Bank of America mailed the Defendant an initial commitment letter and

requested an application fee of $9,000. The Defendant paid the fee with a check from the Kabel

Company checking account, which he had opened three weeks earlier on December 4, 2006.

The Defendant and Richard Hope had to provide the Bank of America with additional

documentation before the bank would issue a final commitment and fund the loan. In order to

verify the Defendant's and Richard Hope's representation that Shiloh was an ongoing and

successful business that could repay the requested loan amount, the bank asked for Shiloh's past

and current financial statements.

On December 12, 2006, in response to the bank's request, Richard Hope provided a

document titled Statement of Income and Retained Earnings for the Months Ended November 30,

2006. The Statement of Income for 2006 falsely represented that Shiloh had held conferences

and retreats in the months following the fire in June 2006. The document reflected income and

expenses for eleven months of operation when, in fact, the business had only been open for six
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months ofthat year. For example, for the month of November 2006, when the building was

completely shutdown except for the caretaker's living quarters, the statement showed total

revenues from retreats to be $106,337 against $49,497 in expenses for a net income of$32,359.

Richard Hope also provided a Balance Sheetfor the Months Ended November 30,2006, which

grossly misrepresented the company's current assets and "stockholder's equity" because it

incorporated the same bogus rental income figures that were provided on the 2006 statement of

income and expenses.

Accompanying the statement of income and balance sheet was a letter from a certified

public accountant named Cecil J. Cavanaugh from Baton Rouge, Louisiana, who had been

previously retained by the Defendant to do his personal taxes. The letter, which was dated

December 8, 2006, stated that Cavanaugh had personally compiled the accompanying statement

of income and balance sheet for the period ending November 30, 2006, and he vouched for his

adherence to acceptable accounting standards. However, like the financial statement for 2006,

the letter was a complete fabrication. While Cavanaugh had done some accounting work to

summarize Shiloh's financial status up to the end of the first quarter of2006, he was never asked

to compile financial statements for the period ending on November 30, 2006, he never had access

to financial data beyond the first quarter of that year and he was not the author of the letter.

In addition to the falsified financial information, Richard Hope supplied the Bank of

America with a document titled Resolution Authorizing Borrowing of Money dated February 26,

2007. The document purported to be a corporate resolution from Shiloh Ministries of

Hagerstown, Inc., that summarized a meeting of the board of directors on that same date and

acknowledged that Richard Hope had the authority to borrow $1.75 million on behalf of the

company. The document purported to be signed by "Nancy Holmes, Secretary." In reality,

however, Nancy Holmes was not an officer of the company, she did not attend a meeting on that

date, and the signature on the resolution was not hers.

Relying on the foregoing documents, the Bank of America lent $1,750,000 to the Shiloh

Company. The closing and disbursement of funds took place on February 28,2007. Richard

Hope signed the settlement statement on behalf of Shiloh. At closing, the proceeds of the loan

were used to pay, among other things, the balance on the outstanding mortgage with Sovereign
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Bank and consequentially all the monies that had been held in escrow by Sovereign for fire

restoration, environmental remediation and reconstruction were credited to Shiloh. The net

proceeds from the closing in the amount of $77,524 were wired to the Kabel Company's bank

account. A review of that account indicated those funds were primarily used to pay for the

Defendant's personal expenses.

Neither the Defendant, Richard Hope nor any other representative ofthe Shiloh company

ever made a monthly loan payment to the Bank of America. No reason for the nonpayment was

ever given, and the Defendant and Richard Hope refused to respond to the bank's

correspondence and phone calls. Thereafter, the Shiloh building was abandoned and ultimately

went into foreclosure.

~!+l01
Date
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